FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/7/2023 8:00 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/7/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102355-3 **No. 57168-4-II**

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:

CLIFFORD A. PORTER Appellant

&

PEGGY A. PORTER Respondent

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

CLEMENT LAW CENTER

By: Bruce Clement WSBA No. 2169 John Higa WSBA No. 53540

31919 1st Avenue South, Suite 103 Federal Way, WA 98003

Attorneys for Appellant

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E. ACC	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE EPTED
	1. The Court of Appeals expanded Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope of prior Appellate Court decisions, particularly by Pea, Bulicek, Hurd, and Chavez
	(a) Post-separation salary increases are presumptively separate property
	(b) The employe spouse's unilateral control over distribution of the deferred pension

	(c) Avoid difficult valuation problems
	2. The Court of Appeals expanded Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope intended by the Washington Supreme Court
	3. Federal law preempts the state court including as community property military benefits that the service member acquired during a recall service
	(a) Federal law preempts state law19
	(b) Federal law limits what states can award in a divorce
	4. The Supreme Court should review this case because this case is a matter of first impression in the United States, and the Court's decision could have a major effect on veterans and their families living throughout Washington and the United States
F.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases

<i>Chavez v. Chavez</i> , 80 Wn.App. 432, 909 P.2d 314 (1996)
<i>In re Marriage of Bishop</i> , 46 Wn.App. 198, 201, 202, 729 P.2d 647 (1986)17
<i>In re Marriage of Bulicek</i> , 59 Wash.App. 630, 800 P.2d 394 (1990)7, 15, 16
<i>In re Marriage of Harris</i> , 107 Wash.App. 597, 601, 27 P.3d 656 (2001)16
<i>In re Marriage of Hurd</i> , 69 Wash. App. 38, 848 P.2d 185 (1993), overruled in part by <i>In re Estate of Borghi</i> , 167 Wash.2d 480, 482, 219 P.3d 932 (2009)
<i>In re Marriage of Pea</i> , 17 Wash.App. 728, 566 P.2d 212 (1977)7
<i>In re Marriage of Short</i> , 125 Wash.2d 865, 871, 890 P.2d 12 (1995)13, 18, 19
<i>In re Marriage of Skarbek</i> , 100 Wash.App. 444, 447, 997 P.2d 447 (20007

Statutes

RCW 26.16.1401	8,	19)
----------------	----	----	---

United States Supreme Court

<i>Howell v. Howell</i> , 137 S. Ct. 1400, 197 L. Ed. 2d 781 (2017) 20, 21, 22
Mansell v. Mansell, 490 U.S. 581, 109 S.Ct. 2023, 104 L.Ed.2d 675 (1989) 20
<i>McCarty v. McCarty</i> , 453 U.S. 210, 101 S.Ct. 2728, 69 L.Ed.2d 589 20, 22, 23

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Clifford A. Porter, Appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of Division Two's decision terminating review.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeal's decision of August 8, 2023, (Appeal No. 57168-4-II) holding that the community property portion of Clifford Porter's military retired pay included Clifford Porter's salary increases and promotion during his involuntary recall to military service, years after the divorce.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Did the Court of Appeals expand Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope of prior Appellate Court decisions, particularly by Pea, Bulicek, Hurd, and Chavez?

Did the Court of Appeals expand Washington's
community efforts doctrine beyond the scope intended by the
Washington Supreme Court, particularly as described in Short?

3. Does federal law preempt the state court from including as community property military benefits that the service member acquired during a recall service that occurred years after the divorce.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On February 14, 2022, Clifford filed a motion to clarify the parties' divorce decree that was entered on November 16, 1994 and modify a military qualifying court order (MQCO) that was entered on February 24, 2003. CP 85, 23, 32. Clifford argued that the community portion of his military retired pay should not include his additional years of service and salary increases during his involuntary recall to active duty from 2009-2012. CP 85-96.

On March 18, 2022, a hearing was held on the motion, and the motions court entered an order. RP 1-41; CP 205-209. The court ordered that the percentage in the MQCO should be amended to include the additional service time, but the full Colonel rank should be used. CP 208-29.

Clifford appeal.

On August 8, 2023, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's decision, holding that the community portion of Clifford's military retired pay included increases attributable to Clifford's promotion and salary increases during his recall service.

Statement of the Facts

On March 29, 1976, Clifford enlisted into the US Army. CP 205. On March 26, 1977, Clifford married Peggy Huckstadt (fka Peggy Porter). *Id.* In May 1986, Clifford completed medical school and resumed his army services as a physician. *Id.* On December 28, 1993, the parties executed a separation contact. *Id.* On November 16, 1994, the Pierce County Superior Court issued a Decree of Dissolution. *Id.* Section 3.13(A) titled, "Division of Military Retirement," provided as follows: Payee/Wife is entitled to a fractional share of the military retirement. Two possible alternative formulas may be applicable to define Wife's share of her Husband's retired benefit:

Alternative 1: Wife's Share: 1/2 x <u>11 years</u> number of years of creditable military time toward retirement

This alternative will be applicable if Participant does not receive credit toward military retirement for his four years of medical school.

Alternative 2: Wife's Share: 1/2 x <u>15 years</u> number of years of creditable military time toward retirement

This alternative shall apply if participant receives full credit for his medical school years toward his military retirement.

CP 24-25.

On October 1, 2002, eight years after the divorce,

Clifford retired from the military at the rank of Lieutenant

Colonel. CP 27. On October 10, 2002, DFAS informed Clifford

that his creditable time in service for calculating his retirement

benefits was 24.42 years, and his service multiple was 24.42 x

2.5% = 61.05%. *Id*. Clifford's total years in service at that time was 26 years, 6 months, 25 days. *Id*.

On February 24, 2003, the Pierce County Superior Court entered an agreed Military Qualifying Court Order (MQCO). CP 32. The second paragraph in Section 5 of the MQCO stated, "This Order assigns to the Former Spouse 30.25% of said disposable military retired pay." CP 33. In April 2003, DFAS began making direct payments to Peggy through a garnishment. CP 42, 206. Clifford directly paid Peggy for her share of the military pension that she did not receive prior to the MQCO. CP 206.

After retiring in 2002, Clifford started working as a surgeon in the private sector. CP 98.

On October 11, 2009, Clifford was recalled to active duty during the Afghanistan Surge by order of the President of the United States. CP 53, 164. On October 6, 2012, Clifford retired for the second time from the miliary. CP 53. During his recall from October 11, 2009 through October 6, 2012, Clifford had served an additional 2 years, 11 months, and 26 days, and was promoted to full Colonel. *Id.* After his second retirement, Clifford resumed his career as a surgeon in the private sector. CP 99.

After Clifford's second retirement, DFAS resumed making military retired payments to the parties. CP 56. The payments to both parties included increases due to Clifford's additional service of almost three years and his promotion to full Colonel. CP 58.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Court of Appeals expanded Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope of prior Appellate Court decisions, particularly by Pea, Bulicek, Hurd, and Chavez.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court's decree intended for Peggy to receive one-half of the community portion of military retired pay. See Decision, page 9. The Court of Appeals also correctly identified that the question is then whether the salary increases from Clifford's recall to active duty and promotion during the recall to military service are included in calculating the community portion of the military retirement. *Id*.

However, the Court of Appeals erred in holding that Clifford's salary increases during his recall service should be used in calculating the community portion of the Clifford's military retired pay. *Id.* at 11.

Whether the increase is community property is a question of law that this Court may review de novo. *In re Marriage of Skarbek*, 100 Wash.App. 444, 447, 997 P.2d 447 (2000).

The Court of Appeals expanded Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope intended by prior appellate court decisions, particularly in Pea and its progenies, such as *Bulicek*, *Hurd*, and *Chavez*. *In re Marriage of Pea*, 17 Wash.App. 728, 566 P.2d 212 (1977); *In re Marriage of Bulicek*, 59 Wash.App. 630, 800 P.2d 394 (1990); *In re Marriage of Hurd*, 69 Wash. App. 38, 848 P.2d 185 (1993), overruled in part by *In re Estate of Borghi*, 167 Wash.2d 480, 482, 219 P.3d 932 (2009); *Chavez v. Chavez*, 80 Wn.App. 432, 909 P.2d 314 (1996).

The Department of Financial and Accounting Services (DFAS) calculates a service member's military retired pay as follows: 2.5% x creditable years in service x base pay. See e.g., *Chavez*, 80 Wash.App. at 435.

It is important to note that the Court of Appeals misconceived the formula to be used in calcuating Peggy's portion of the military retired pay. Court's decision, p 6, note 3. Under no circumstances would Peggy receive only 27.273% x Lieutenant Colonel rank. *Id*.

The correct formula can only be ascertained *after* the Court resolves the legal issue presented on appeal. If the Court agrees with Clifford that the community portion *does not include* the salary increase during the recall, then Peggy's portion would be **30.25% x the Lieutenant Colonel rank**. That is, the community portion of the retired pay would be calculated as though Clifford retired in 2002 and was never recalled. On the other hand, if the community portion *does include* salary increases during the recall, then Peggy's portion would be 27.273% x the full Colonel rank. That is, the community portion of the retired pay would account for Clifford's recall service from 2009-2012 (include salary increases but exclude years of service.)

The instant case should be distinguished from the *Chavez* case. The Chavez court held that the parties' decree limited the spouse to one-half of the community portion of the military retired pay. Chavez, 80 Wash.App. at 432. The Chavez Court held that the community portion of the military retired pay did not include the "years in service" (i.e., 2.5% x creditable years in service) earned after separation, but did include "salary increases" from the date of separation to the time he retired. See Chavez, 80 Wn.App. at 437.

The fact pattern in the instant case is similar to Chavez, but only until Clifford retired in 2002. *Id.* at 434-435; CP 27. Unlike Chavez, Clifford's military duty after that was not

continuous. It was due to a second active duty in 2009 due to an involuntary recall to duty. CP 53, 164.

Consequently, this case raises a legal issue that was never answered previously: does the community property include Clifford's *salary increases* during the subsequent involuntary recall (2009-2012).

Relying on Bulicek's discussion on community efforts, the Court of Appeals held that the salary increases during Clifford's involuntary recall (2009-2012) were based upon 17 years of community efforts (1976-1993). See Decision, page 10. The Court of Appeal reasoned, "Without the prior years of service and prior rank of Lieutenant Colonel, Clifford likely would not have reach the rank of full Colonel solely during the three years." Consequently, the Court of Appeals held that once community efforts is established, then the community efforts doctrine applies in perpetuity.

The Court of Appeals emphasis is misplaced because the timing of the increase is of primary importance. The Bulicek

Court's holding and reasoning applied specifically to the period

after separation until the employee spouse opted to retire.

The Court of Appeals further reasoned:

Moreover, had Clifford not initially retired in 2002 but continued working until 2012, all the salary increases from his hypothetical 2002 to 2012 service would be included in the community portion of the military retired pay. Clifford's salary increases from the recall to military service from 2009 to 2012 are not stripped of their foundation on community efforts merely because he had an earlier voluntary retirement and was subject to a mandatory recall to military service. We do not find that distinction meaningful.

The holding begs the question, "why wouldn't community efforts cease to apply upon Clifford's voluntary retirement and seven-year gap from the military?" Washington courts have never applied community efforts to a case where such a gap exists -- not to mention a seven-year long gap. Additionally, the hypothetical is unsubstantiated. Also "Why would community efforts apply from 2002 through 2012?"

A lot goes on after a service member voluntarily retires and enters the private sector. In our case, upon retirement Clifford found employment as a surgeon in the private sector. Seven years later, he was forced to leave his medical practice, separate from his family, and serve in a very dangerous area of the world. CP 53, 164. He did not choose to return to active duty. CP 164. The recall required great financial and personal sacrifice. *Id.* He had no control over his life or his retirement after he was reactivated. He had to serve as ordered by the U.S. Army.

The Court of Appeals applied Bulicek's community efforts doctrine without adequate consideration of the reasoning behind the Bulicek decision. Court's decision, page 10. Pea and its progenies based their decisions on several important factors, including the following: (1) the presumption that postseparation salary increases are separate property, (2) the employee spouse's unilateral control over distribution of the deferred pension, and (3) difficulties of valuations of military pensions.

(a) Post-separation salary increases are presumptively

separate property.

Generally, spouses' earnings and accumulations during a permanent separation are considered separate property. *In re Marriage of Short*, 125 Wash.2d 865, 871, 890 P.2d 12 (1995). Although a spouse's earnings following separation are generally characterized as separate property, the employee spouse's salary increase, received shortly after separation are presumed to be the result of community efforts. *Hurd*, 69 Wash. App. at 46.

The fact that the salary increase was generated by the service member's labors after separation (presumably his or her separate property) must be given serious consideration. More so here because the increase occurred sixteen years after separation, fifteen years after the divorce, and seven years after Clifford voluntarily retired. CP 53. There can be no community efforts presumption because Clifford's salary increase occurred at least sixteen years after separation – an extremely long period of time. Hurd, 69 Wash. App. at 46; CP 53. The effect of such a

ruling means that the community efforts doctrine applies in perpetuity.

The Court of Appeals considered neither the separate property presumption nor the lack of community efforts presumption. Consequently, the Court of Appeals' analysis elevated Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope intended by prior appellate courts.

(b) The employe spouse's unilateral control over distribution of the deferred pension.

Underlying *Pea*, *Bulicek*, *Hurd*, and *Chavez*'s decisions was the inequity arising to a former spouse that was being denied immediate pension payments because the employee spouse's unilateral decision to continue working. *Pea*, 17 Wash.App. at 730. ("he would qualify for a 20-year military retirement pension if he elects to retire at that time"); *Bulicek*, 59 Wash.App. at 638 ("He is free to retire when he wishes."); In re *Marriage of Hurd*, 69 Wash. App. 38, 43, 848 P.2d 185 (1993), overruled in part by In re Estate of Borghi, 167 Wash.2d 480, 482, 219 P.3d 932 (2009) ("He testified that he planned to continue working and that no mandatory retirement applied to him."); *Chavez*, 80 Wn.App. at 437 ("When a spouse continues to accumulate pension benefits following divorce...").

Having to wait for the employee to retire, the former spouse in those cases incurred risks, justifying a share in employee's increased salary. *Bulicek*, 59 Wash.App. at 638 ("shares the risks inherent in deferred receipt of the income").

The service member loses that control when he voluntarily retires. The Court of Appeals applied the community efforts as though Clifford were still choosing to work and forcing Peggy to wait for his retirement. Consequently, the court elevated the community efforts doctrine beyond the scope intended by prior case law.

(c) Avoid difficult valuation problems.

Pea and its progenies allowed the former spouse to benefit from the service member's salary increase by allowing pension distributions on an as-received basis to avoid difficult

valuation problems. *Bulicek*, 59 Wash.App. at 638; Chavez, 80 Wn.App. at 437. ("When a service member continues employment after the divorce, an award of pension rights on an as-received basis is to be encouraged, because it avoids difficult valuation problems and shares in the risks inherent in deferred income"). The difficult valuation problems basically required calculating the present value of the deferred payment at the time of the decree – a difficult and often expensive process. *Bulicek*, 59 Wash.App. at 639; See *In re Marriage of Harris*, 107 Wash.App. 597, 601, 27 P.3d 656 (2001).

The Court of Appeals in the instant case stated, "But we are not asked to reconsider the trial court's initial disposition of pension benefits. Rather, we are asked to interpret the dissolution decree. Clifford's argument about valuation problems is not relevant to the question before us." See Decision, page 12. However, the irrelevancy of valuation problems in our case is exactly a reason that the community should not share in the post-retirement salary increase.

Again, the issue here is whether the community portion of the military pay includes the salary increase during the recall. The Bulicek Court *did* find "difficult" valuation issues to be a relevant factor in its ruling that community efforts applied to the period following separation. *Id.* The difficulty arises from the trial court estimating the time of the service member's eventual retirement (under his control), the amounts of the deferred payments, and the risk associated with waiting for the service member to retire.

In our case we are dealing with an unanticipated salary increase during an involuntary recall to service, occurring fifteen years after the dissolution, that would not have been factored into the trial court's present value evaluation. *In re Marriage of Bishop*, 46 Wn.App. 198, 201, 202, 729 P.2d 647 (1986). ("The community does not share in a mere expectancy"). Consequently, unanticipated salary increases during the recall should also be excluded on an as-received basis. The salary increase is the service member's separate property, and not community. *Short*, 125 Wash.2d at 871. The Court of Appeals expanded the community efforts doctrine to include unanticipated and unexpected salary increases earned during the recall service.

2. The Court of Appeals expanded Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope intended by the Washington Supreme Court.

After a husband and wife are living separate and apart,

their respective earnings and accumulations shall be the

separate property of each. RCW 26.16.140; Short, 125 Wn.2d

at 871. The Short Court explained the community efforts

doctrine as follows:

After determining whether employee stock options were granted to compensate the employee for past, present, or future employment services, the "time rule" is applied. For future employment services, the "time rule" is applied to the first stock option to vest after the parties are found to be "living separate and apart". This is the lone stock option that includes both a community effort and a separate effort. We do not apply the "time rule" to every stock option that vests after the parties are found to be "living separate and apart" because to do so ignores the separate property provisions of RCW 26.16.

Id. at 875 [Emphasis added].

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