# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/6/2023 12:44 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/6/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102355-3 **Court of Appeals No. 57168-4-II** 

#### **CLIFFORD A. PORTER**, APPELLANT

v.

#### PEGGY A. PORTER (nka HUCKSTADT), RESPONDENT

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Jennifer Andrews

No. 94-3-00930-2

LAW OFFICE OF SOPHIA M.
PALMER, P.L.L.C.
Stacey Swenhaugen, WSBA No. 41509
615 Commerce Street, Ste 101
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 777-4165
Attorney for Respondent

#### **

#### A. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Should the Court accept review under RAP 13.4(b)
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals expand Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope of prior Appellate Court decisions, particularly by *Pea, Bulicek, Hurd*, and *Chavez*?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals expand Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope intended by the Washington Supreme Court, particularly as described in *Short*?
- 4. Does federal law preempt the state court from including as community property military benefits that the service member acquired during a recall service that occurred years after the divorce.

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties, Clifford Porter ("Clifford") and Peggy Huckstadt ("Peggy") divorced in Pierce County Superior Court on November 16, 1994. CP 23. The Decree of Dissolution does not specifically divide Clifford's Military Retired pay. CP 23. Paragraph 3.3 of the Decree states that Peggy "is awarded as her separate property the property set forth in the Separation Agreement". CP 23. The Separation Agreement attached and incorporated into the Decree states, "The parties agree that the amount of retirement benefits shall be determined at the time of divorce by a court with property jurisdiction over the subject". CP 8. However, the parties did not ask the Court to allocate any amount of retirement benefits to either party, "at the time of the divorce". It was not until November 24, 2003, after Clifford retired from the military in 2002 with a rank of Lieutenant Colonel, that a Military Qualifying Court Order ("MQCO") was entered by agreement, ordering that Peggy was to receive 30.25% of said disposable military retired pay, based

upon Clifford's rank at the time of his 2002 retirement. *CP 86*, 33.

It is undisputed that Clifford attended medical school during his marriage to Peggy, and while serving in active duty. *CP 85*. Cliff's rank at the time of his 2002 retirement was Lieutenant Colonel, based largely on community efforts during the parties' marriage, including obtaining his medical degree. *CP 98*.

Petitioner was recalled to military service in 2009, and continued active duty for 2 years, 11 months and 26 days. *CP* 100. During said period of recall, neither Clifford, nor Peggy, received his or her share of Clifford's military retired pay. *CP* 156. Clifford retired again on October 6, 2012, after a promotion to full Colonel. *CP* 100. Upon his retirement, the Department of Defense Finance and Accounting Service ("DFAS"), reinstated monthly retirement payments to Peggy, at a percentage of 30.25% of Cliff's total monthly benefit, pursuant to the 2003 MQCO. *CP* 100-101.

It was not until roughly nine (9) years later, that Clifford commenced legal action in Pierce County Superior Court, demanding that Peggy's portion of his military retired pay be reduced retroactively to 2012, that the percentage of Peggy's portion be reduced based upon the additional years of service, and that her pay be calculated based upon his rank of Lieutenant Colonel, rather than Colonel. *CP 156*.

On March 2, 2021, Clifford filed a "Motion to Clarify the 2003 Military Qualifying Court Order". His Motion states, in relevant part, "Because DFAS does not automatically correct its calculation of the pro rata share each party receives under such circumstances, the Respondent has been overpaid for the period from January 2013 through the present. DFAS requires a Clarifying Order to correct the amount each party is to receive going forward. For these reasons, the Petitioner requests entry of a Clarifying Order and a money judgment for the overpayments made to the Respondent". CP 181-182.

After receiving Peggy's Response to the Motion, Clifford

failed to confirm the hearing and did not pursue his motion. *RP* 181-182.

Nearly a full year later, on February 14, 2022, a new attorney appeared on Clifford's behalf, and filed a similar motion; however, this time, Clifford added a request to Vacate and Modify the MQCO, and further requested both prejudgment interest and attorney's fees. *CP 85*.

At the March 18, 2022 hearing, Judge Andrews amended the MQCO based upon Cliff's total years of service (to account for his recall), but did not agree the award to Peggy should be frozen at his 2002 retired rank of Lieutenant Colonel. *RP 33*.

Judge Andrews stated, "his previous years of service, including the years during which they were married, benefitted his ability to then move up, and so that is equitable, in my mind…". *Id*.

Judge Andrews retroactively amended the Order back to June 2020, based on evidence that Clifford's attorney began communicating with Peggy about the modification. *CP 208*.

Clifford appealed. The Court of Appeals upheld the trial

court's decision on August 8, 2023, holding, consistent with *Bulicek v. Bulicek*, 59 Wn.App. 630, 800 P.2d 394 (1990), that the community portion of Clifford's military retired pay included his salary increase during his recall service that was founded on community efforts. *See Decision*, page 10.

#### C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## 1. THE COURT SHOULD DENY PETITION FOR REVIEW

To obtain this court's review, the Appellant must show

(1) that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision
of the Supreme Court, (2) with a published Court of Appeals
decision, (3) that this decision calls into a question a law under
the United States or Washington Constitution, or (4) the
Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that
should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

In the present case, the Court of Appeals, Division II, applied instructive case precedent set forth in *Bulicek v*. *Bulicek*, 59 Wn.App. 630, 800 P.2d 394 (1990), finding that

"without the prior years of service and prior rank of Lieutenant Colonel, Clifford likely would not have reached the rank of full Colonel solely during the three years he served during the mandatory recall to service period. Under these narrow circumstances, Clifford's salary increases during the recall to service period were based on the community's efforts...Clifford's salary increases from the recall to military service from 2009 to 2012 are not stripped of their foundation on community efforts merely because he had an earlier voluntary retirement and was subject to a mandatory recall to military service". *See Decision*, page 10.

Clifford does not argue that Division II's decision is in *conflict* with any Supreme Court or published Court of appeals case. Instead, he argues that the Appellate decision expanded Washington's community efforts doctrine beyond the scope intended by prior appellate court decisions. It appears then, that while not specifically cited, Clifford's Petition was filed pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2). Clifford

fails, however, to distinguish between conflicting decisions and a decision that "expands the scope" beyond what may have been intended in prior decisions.

Rather, Clifford argues that the Court should be treating his recall retirement benefits as a brand-new, post-separation asset. Clifford has continued to label this as his "second retirement" in court pleadings, even though Peggy has argued, and both Courts below have acknowledged, that Clifford only has one military retirement account. If the period of service up to 2009 and the recall service had been bifurcated, thereby providing Clifford with a new and subsequent retirement account, then neither Clifford's, nor Peggy's retirement benefits from the prior service would have been paused during Clifford's period of recall. Clifford has failed to provide any evidence or even legal authority, that any retirement benefits earned based upon his recall service, is a new post-separation asset.

Clifford's unsupported belief that he acquired a new post-separation asset provides the foundation for his argument that the Court of Appeals should not have considered the community efforts doctrine in *Bulicek*, *Chavez*, *Pea* and other cases.

# 2. THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT MISAPPLY OR INCORRECTLY EXPAND THE COMMUNITY EFFORTS DOCTRINE

Clifford argues, incorrectly, that "Pea and its progenies with regard to the community efforts doctrine based their decisions on several important factors, including the following: (a) the presumption that post-separation salary increases are separate property, (b) the employee spouse's unilateral control over distribution of the deferred pension, and (c) difficulties of valuations of military pensions". *See Petition for Review*, Page 12. Peggy disagrees and so did the Court below.

# (a) Post-Separation Increases to Retirement Have Routinely Been Treated as Founded by Community Efforts

In the present case, the Court of Appeals did consider the effect of post-separation pay increases based upon post-separation earnings and pay increases:

Clifford argues this distinction should take this case outside of the line of cases that included post-divorce salary increases in the community portion of the pension, and therefore, Clifford's salary increases during the recall, which occurred years after the divorce, should be excluded. We do not find Clifford's distinction persuasive in this context. Clifford does not cite to any case that suggests that salary increases from a mandatory recall to military service after divorce cannot be founded upon community efforts. We decline to adopt Clifford's argument for such a distinction in this context.

See Decision, page 11. Clifford states his belief that the Court of Appeals failed to consider that his salary increase occurred 16 years after separation and years after the first retirement. He suggests that his military promotion and salary increase could have

accounted for his years in private practice outside of the military. However, no evidence of this contention was ever submitted. Further, Courts have previously found that the number of years that deferred compensation was received post separation or post-retirement, is immaterial. In In re Marriage of Bulicek, 59 Wn.App. 630, 800 P.2d 394 (1990), the Court found it was not an abuse of discretion for the Court to allocate pension benefits on an as-received basis, even after acknowledging that the husband "may receive proportionately higher future contributions based upon his career longevity" and that "the formula utilized for division of future retirement benefits could result in [the wife's] sharing in those increases". *Id.* The Court "specifically approve[d] it as a means of recognizing the community contribution to such increases", even though it was unknown at the time of trial whether the husband would retire in 1 year or 10 years.

# (b) Employee Control over Timeline of Deferred Payments Not Relevant

Clifford next argues that the Court of Appeals failed to consider that "Pea and its progenies" based their decisions on the employee spouse's unilateral control over distribution of the deferred pension. The Court of Appeals did not agree with Clifford's distinction between military retirement benefits and other government or private benefits through employers who could not subject the employee to mandatory recall. He cites to no authority to support his contention, and Peggy's Responsive Appellate Brief thoroughly analyzed the line of cases to point out that no court has ever based a retirement division award upon whether the employee or service member had any control over the timeline of deferred payments.

In *In re Marriage of Pea*, 17 Wn.App. 728, 566 P.2d 212 (1977), the husband had served in the military for approximately 18 years at the time of the divorce. The question before the Court was whether the Court had the ability to

allocate any portion of the husband's expected military retired pay, an entitlement not guaranteed to him until he had served a full 20 years. The Court found that, "that retirement pay, even though benefits are not presently available, is held to be deferred compensation and subject to equitable distribution under RCW 26.09.080'. *Wilder v. Wilder*, 85 Wash.2d 364, 534 P.2d 1355 (1975). *Id.* The word "control" does not appear in the Court's opinion and no other iteration appears to guide the Court's analysis.

In re Marriage of Bulicek, 59 Wn.App. 630, 800 P.2d 394 (1990), involved a private, non-military pension. While the husband had a vested pension, he had no plans to retire soon. Similar to Clifford, he challenged the use of the straight percentage formula that would entitle his wife to post-divorce increases, as his anticipated earning potential and employer contributions would be proportionately much higher at the end of his career verses during the marriage. The Court's analysis did not turn on whether the husband had control over his future

earning capacity or increases that would affect his pension value. Instead, the Court considered factors relevant to a just and equitable distribution, and found it was not an abuse of discretion for the Court to allocate pension benefits on an asreceived basis, even after acknowledging that the husband "may receive proportionately higher future contributions based upon his career longevity". Like in Pea, the husband's "control" over his retirement date did not factor into the trial court's decision, whatsoever.

The *Bulicek* opinion provided an analysis of similar holdings in numerous California state cases, also cited by Clifford in his moving Court of Appeals brief. Likewise, *In re Marriage of Freiberg*, 57 Cal.App.3d 304, 311, 127 Cal.Rptr. 792, 797 (1976) and *In re Marriage of Adams*, 64 Cal.App.3d 181, 184, 134 Cal.Rptr. 298, 301 (1976) did not consider the husband's control, as a part of its analysis in awarding post-separation increases. In *Freiberg*, the Court rationalized the formula method of allocation presents benefits to each spouse

and risks to the receiving spouse. In that case, "the husband expressed his intention to remain in service for a number of years. Assuming his future basic pay will be increased, postponing the date of retirement will benefit him as well as the wife. *Freiberg*, 57 Cal.App.3d 304.

In Adams, there was a discussion of the fact that husband controlled his retirement date (and as a result, the maturation of his pension), but it did not turn the Court's decision about postseparation increases being allocated to the Wife. Instead, the husband's control was relevant to the wife's choice to receive retirement benefits after the husband retired, verses at the time of the divorce. "Here, wife agreed to wait until husband retired and to take her share at that time. We find nothing wrong with this and believe it was a decision she was entitled to make, particularly since husband had decided to continue working." Adams, 64 Cal.App.3d 18. In that case, both parties had a form of control. In this case, Peggy has none. Clifford argues it is not fair for Peggy to share in the increases he received from

2009 to 2012 because he lacked control over his return to service, but Peggy had no form of control either. Because Clifford's was a military pension, Peggy never had the choice to receive her benefits at the time of the divorce. She had to wait until Clifford retired. Then, like Clifford, she lost her monthly allotment for three years when Clifford returned to service. The loss of control to both parties in the present case, shouldn't benefit only Clifford, and the *Adams* court certainly doesn't stand for such a proposition.

Next, Clifford relies on *Chavez v. Chavez*, 80 Wn.App. 432, 436, 909 P.2d 314 (1996), which likewise fails to turn on the servicemember's control. After finding ambiguity in the Decree, the Court turned its analysis to the post-decree salary increases, holding that "the fact that a retiree's final pension is calculated upon a salary that is unknown at the time the income is deferred is a normal and anticipated feature of this type of deferred compensation program". *Chavez*, 80 Wn.App. 432. The husband's "control" was not a factor in the Court's

decision.

The decision in *In re Marriage of Hurd*, 69 Wn. App. 38, 43, 848 P.2d 185 (1993), overruled in part by *In re Estate of* Borghi, 167 Wash.2d 480, 482, 219 P.3d 932 (2009), is likewise distinguishable. The Court there, did not award the wife's share of the pension on an as-received basis, so there was question about which date was more appropriate to calculate a present-day value. Such an analysis lacks application to the present case. More relevant, as a Seattle police officer, the husband received a significant salary increase after separation, but before the dissolution was finalized. The decision turned on the fact that the court found the salary increase was born on community efforts during the marriage. The award of the husband's salary increase did not turn on the Husband's control.

Finally, Clifford relies upon another California case, *In Re Marriage of Gillmore*, 29 Cal.3d 418, 423, 174 Cal.Rptr. 493, 496, 629 P.2d 1, 4 (1981), for the proposition that, "It is a

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